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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I apologize for

          3  the delay. We're going to begin the meeting of the

          4  Land Use Subcommittee on Landmarks, Public Siting

          5  and Maritime Uses. I'm Jessica Lappin, the Chair.

          6  We're joined by Council Member Helen Sears of

          7  Queens, Council Member Charles Barron of Brooklyn,

          8  Council Member Annabel Palma of the Bronx, Council

          9  Member Tony Avella of Queens, Council Member Maria

         10  del Carmen Arroyo of the Bronx, Council Member

         11  Kendall Stewart of Brooklyn and Council Member John

         12  Liu of Queens.

         13                 There is one item on the agenda

         14  today. I'd like to open the Public Hearing on Land

         15  Use Item No. 455, which is the Gateway School,

         16  located at Queens Hospital, and invite the

         17  Administration to testify, Deputy Mayor Dennis

         18  Walcott, Ross Holden, from SCA, Kenrick Ou from SCA,

         19  and Vinnie Castagnola, SCA. And we've also been

         20  joined by the Land Use Chair, Council Member Melinda

         21  Katz, and by the local Council member in which this

         22  district, this project may take place, which is

         23  Council Member Jim Gennaro.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: Just so the

         25  Committee members know, on the full Committee on
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          2  Land Use, right now the Administration is working on

          3  seeing whether they can come back tomorrow to

          4  testify on the franchise bus agreements, since we do

          5  have a conference at 2:30 and I know a lot of folks

          6  want to get to the conference, and I believe this

          7  hearing will probably be an hour to an hour and a

          8  half, minimum, so which means Land Use wouldn't take

          9  place til 4:00 or 4:30. So, we are trying to get an

         10  agreement from the Administration to come back

         11  tomorrow on the Land items. So, we'll know in a few

         12  minutes, okay? And I appreciate your patience. We

         13  are trying to work out something clearly for a

         14  member, and as you know in this Committee, that

         15  happens sometimes.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. Please

         18  begin.

         19                 MR. HOLDEN: Good afternoon,

         20  Chairperson and Council members. My name is Ross

         21  Holden. I'm the Vice President and General Counsel

         22  of the New York City School Construction Authority.

         23                 I'm joined here today by Dennis

         24  Walcott, Deputy Mayor for Education and Community

         25  Development; Kenrick Ou, Site Acquisition Manager
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          2  for the SCA, and Vinnie Castagnola, Vice President,

          3  Quality Assurance and Quality Control of the School

          4  Construction Authority.

          5                 The SCA has undertaken a site

          6  selection process for the proposed new Gateway

          7  Secondary School for Health Sciences. The proposed

          8  site is a portion of tax lot 1 on tax block 6858 in

          9  the Borough of Queens. Tax lot 1 comprises the

         10  entire superblock that contains Queens Hospital

         11  Center. The proposed site is also located in

         12  Community School District No. 28 and Queens

         13  Community Board No. 8.

         14                 The proposed site is an approximately

         15  65,000 square foot, about a one and a half acre

         16  portion of the grounds of Queens Hospital, located

         17  on the South side of Goethals Avenue between 160th

         18  and 162nd Streets. The entire Queens Hospital campus

         19  is owned by the City of New York, and the proposed

         20  school site is under the control of the New York

         21  City Department of Education.

         22                 Under the proposed project, the SCA

         23  would demolish one- and two-story structures that

         24  formerly contained support and accessory services

         25  for the hospital, and construct a new approximately
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          2  800 seat secondary school facility for the Gateway

          3  School.

          4                 Gateway is an existing seventh

          5  through 12th grade school organization that occupies

          6  an overcrowded facility located at 150-91 87th Road,

          7  approximately one mile away.

          8                 The notice of filing of the site plan

          9  was published in the New York Post and City Record

         10  on March 21st, 2007, at which time Queens Community

         11  Board No. 8 was asked to hold a public hearing on

         12  the proposed site plan.

         13                 Community Board No. 8 held a public

         14  hearing on the site plan on April 12th, 2007, and

         15  subsequently sent written comments recommending

         16  against the proposed site.

         17                 The City Planning Commission was also

         18  notified of the Site Plan on March 21st, 2007 and it

         19  recommended in favor of the site.

         20                 The SCA has considered all comments

         21  received on the proposed site plan and affirms the

         22  site plan pursuant to Section 1731 of the Public

         23  Authorities Law.

         24                 In accordance with Section 1732 of

         25  the Public Authorities Law, the SCA submitted the

                                                            8

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          2  proposed site plan to the Mayor and Council on May

          3  17th, 2007.

          4                 We look forward to your

          5  Subcommittee's favorable consideration of the

          6  proposed site plan. Now I would like to introduce

          7  Deputy Mayor Dennis Walcott, who will testify on

          8  behalf of the proposed site. Thank you very much.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Thank you,

         10  Ross. And good afternoon, Chair Lappin, to Council

         11  Member Gennaro, and to the members of the Land Use

         12  Subcommittee on Siting. My name is Dennis Walcott,

         13  I'm the Deputy Mayor for Education and Community

         14  Development, and I am here today in support of this

         15  extremely important project, the Queens Gateway to

         16  Health Sciences Secondary School.

         17                 I'm also here to represent Mayor

         18  Bloomberg. As you know, the Mayor worked tirelessly

         19  with the City Council to secure funding to complete

         20  the projects. This capital plan and this project is

         21  a very important component of this plan.

         22                 In this proposal, to place the

         23  Gateway School on the Campus of Queens Hospital,

         24  represents a unique opportunity for our students to

         25  pursue careers in the field of medicine and
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          2  research.

          3                 As you know, this school is currently

          4  located in a building that serves 569 students, and

          5  is operating at over 112 percent capacity. Even in

          6  these overcrowded conditions, the quality of this

          7  school and the success of our students, are

          8  exceptional.

          9                 The Gateway is a school of excellence

         10  with an average attendance rate of 95 percent, where

         11  the graduation rate is 90 percent, with 90 percent

         12  of the students earning a Regents Diploma. They have

         13  accelerated in math and science programs and earned

         14  college credits through the College Now Program.

         15                 The new facility will allow the

         16  school to accommodate 800 students and will

         17  strengthen the school's existing partnership with

         18  Queens Hospital Center.

         19                 The Building's facility will include

         20  state-of-the-art science labs, demonstration rooms

         21  and libraries specializing in the health sciences.

         22                 It will allow direct access to the

         23  hospital and it will provide students opportunities

         24  for internships and research projects.

         25                 It is well known that New York City
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          2  public high schools are extremely overcrowded and

          3  the high schools in Queens are among the most

          4  overcrowded in the City.

          5                 Construction of this school provide

          6  much-needed additional capacity. Since 2000, we have

          7  been in the planning process for this school and we

          8  have appeared before many groups in the community to

          9  discuss our plans. I am personally invested in

         10  moving this project forward, and I've spoken with

         11  the local Councilman, Councilman Gennaro, about a

         12  number of the issues, and one of the things and

         13  members of the community about the importance of

         14  seeing this school become a reality.

         15                 Throughout those discussions several

         16  concerns have arisen and SCA has addressed each of

         17  them.

         18                 They include traffic and transit,

         19  parking and environmental conditions at the site.

         20  The traffic conditions in the vicinity of the site

         21  are not great now, and even without the school.

         22                 The SCA completed a comprehensive

         23  traffic impact analysis for the school, and it found

         24  schools, additional teachers and staff would worsen

         25  traffic at two intersections, but that the impacts
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          2  could be mitigated through signaling, timing

          3  adjustments.

          4                 I want to be clear that those

          5  adjustments did not make the area's traffic

          6  disappear, but would address the specific impact of

          7  the school generated traffic.

          8                 The SCA has shared its findings with

          9  the Department of Transportation and DOT has begun

         10  to evaluate those findings and recommendations.

         11                 Similarly, in the recent meetings

         12  with the local residents and civics, the SCA heard

         13  their concerns about the level of bus service in the

         14  area.

         15                 In response, the SCA has reached out

         16  to the MTA bus company which confirmed that the

         17  level of services provided by the private bus

         18  companies did not meet their standard, and that the

         19  MTA has been increasing bus service to meet

         20  ridership needs since it took over.

         21                 The SCA will continue to work with

         22  the MTA on this issue, and there will be enough

         23  buses to meet the existing needs of this community,

         24  as well as those of the Gateway students.

         25                 It's also become clear from the
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          2  recent meetings and public comments they received

          3  that parking availability is a serious concern for

          4  the Hillcrest community as well. I understand that

          5  many residents disagree with our original findings

          6  of the SCA and other previous studies regarding the

          7  local parking availability. Therefore, the City,

          8  through the Health and Hospitals Corporation, has

          9  agreed to offer permanent parking on the hospital

         10  grounds to the Gateway school staff.

         11                 We heard the community's concerns, we

         12  looked at the unique need of Hillcrest and the

         13  impact of having a school and hospital on the same

         14  land, and we're able to identify space to offer the

         15  convenience of on-campus parking.

         16                 We've heard concern about the site's

         17  environmental condition and the SCA's proposed

         18  remediation plan. The SCA is evaluating the

         19  recommendation the local civics consultant has made

         20  to enhance the remediation plan, but I want to

         21  stress two items: First, the plan has been reviewed

         22  and approved by the State Department of Health and

         23  the Department of Environmental Conservation.

         24                 Second, because we are talking about

         25  the safety and well-being of our children, that plan
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          2  includes several levels of safe guards and

          3  precautions to make sure that the environmental

          4  controls are effective and the site is safe.

          5                 Finally, I want to be very clear that

          6  even after this public review process ends, the

          7  City, the SCA and the school will continue to work

          8  closely with this community.

          9                 We've shown through numerous meetings

         10  through the years, and most especially in the recent

         11  weeks, that the City is listening and is responsive

         12  to the concerns of the community.

         13                 For example, this beautiful school

         14  building has been designed to be respectful of its

         15  neighbors and is a facility that the Hillcrest in

         16  Queens should be proud of. We equally committed to

         17  addressing any operational issues that arise once

         18  the school building opens.

         19                 Without this school, the site will

         20  either languish unused, or you'll potentially see

         21  another less desirable use. Under that scenario, the

         22  critical opportunity to expand the Gateway School

         23  would be lost.

         24                 The Gateway School is a

         25  high-performing program which cannot currently
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          2  accommodate the number of students that attend and

          3  want to attend.

          4                 Again, I emphasize that we have

          5  wide-spread overcrowding in our schools,

          6  particularly in Queens, and we face greater

          7  challenges in siting schools to alleviate the

          8  overcrowding.

          9                 We cannot afford to pass up feasible

         10  opportunities to build seats. Our children deserve

         11  to learn in state-of-the-art facilities with

         12  adequate space to receive a high-quality education

         13  that they are entitled to.

         14                 I urge the Council to support this

         15  high-quality program and vote in favor of this

         16  proposal.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 Kenrick.

         19                 MR. OU: Good afternoon, Chairperson

         20  Lappin, Council Member Gennaro and other Council

         21  members. My name is Kenrick Ou, and I am the Site

         22  Acquisition Manager for the New York City School

         23  Construction Authority. My responsibilities include

         24  managing the environmental review process for new

         25  school sites that come before the Council and the
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          2  Mayor.

          3                 Since copies of the environmental

          4  assessment that was prepared for this project are

          5  included in the application materials before you, I

          6  will focus my remarks on the general environmental

          7  and public review processes and the key findings of

          8  our impact review.

          9                 As required by the State

         10  Environmental Quality Review Act, the SCA completed

         11  an extensive evaluation of the potential impacts of

         12  the Gateway School and the surrounding environment,

         13  as well as the impact of the surrounding environment

         14  upon that school and its students.

         15                 The SCA retained Urbitran Associates

         16  as the environmental consultant to assist in our

         17  evaluation. The environment is defined broadly so

         18  the environmental assessment included consideration

         19  of many areas. I want to emphasize that this

         20  evaluation was completed based on the guidance

         21  provided in the City's City Environment Quality

         22  Review Technical Manual, which sets forth analytical

         23  methodology and impact thresholds for various impact

         24  areas.

         25                 After the environmental assessment
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          2  was completed, the SCA issued a condition negative

          3  declaration on January 29th, 2007. The SCA

          4  determined that according to City thresholds, the

          5  proposed Gateway School would not have significant

          6  impacts on any of the impact areas except for

          7  traffic.

          8                 As the Deputy Mayor indicated, the

          9  project could result in significant adverse traffic

         10  impacts at two intersections, namely the

         11  intersections of Union Turnpike with Parsons

         12  Boulevard and 154th Street. However, those impacts

         13  could be mitigated through adjustments to the signal

         14  timing at both locations and we have contacted the

         15  Department of Transportation regarding the proposed

         16  mitigation measures.

         17                 The SCA distributed copies of the

         18  environmental assessment and offered to meet with

         19  Queens Community Board No. 8 to review the project

         20  and our impact findings. We met with representatives

         21  of the community board, and local civic associations

         22  on March 8th, 2007. At that meeting and in

         23  subsequent public meetings, we have heard community

         24  concerns regarding the project's impacts, as the

         25  Deputy Mayor indicated, on local curbside parking
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          2  and bus services, so I'd like to speak briefly about

          3  our analyses of those two areas.

          4                 Regarding parking, it is important to

          5  note that four separate surveys of the utilization

          6  of curbside parking in the area were completed

          7  between 2001 and 2007. Those surveys examined a

          8  one-third to one-quarter mile radius from the site

          9  as recommended by the City's technical guidance.

         10                 The surveys consistently indicated

         11  that there would be sufficient parking to meet the

         12  needs posed by the proposed school staff, and that

         13  no significant impact, again, as defined by and

         14  based on the Citywide standards would occur.

         15                 However, as the Deputy Mayor just

         16  stated, the City, through the Health and Hospitals

         17  Corporation is responding to the community's

         18  concerns about parking and is making available

         19  additional land for dedicated school parking at no

         20  cost to school staff. This school parking area would

         21  not result in any significant adverse impacts as

         22  well.

         23                 Regarding the bus services, we have

         24  contacted and initiated a conversation with the MTA

         25  bus company, which recently took over the Q25, Q34
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          2  and Q65 bus routes that were formerly operated by

          3  the private bus companies.

          4                 The MTA bus company has confirmed

          5  that the service levels that had been provided by

          6  the private bus companies were not adequate, but

          7  that the MTA has been increasing bus service and

          8  monitoring ridership levels.

          9                 We will continue to provide the MTA

         10  with information they need in order to make the

         11  necessary service adjustments to accommodate the

         12  needs of the Gateway School.

         13                 From March until this point we have

         14  attended and participated in a number of meetings at

         15  which additional concerns have emerged.

         16                 Vinnie Castagnola will speak

         17  specifically to the concerns raised regarding how

         18  SCA plans to respond to the site's environmental

         19  conditions.

         20                 However, I do want to reiterate that

         21  we, at the SCA, and the City, will continue to work

         22  with our colleagues at the Department of

         23  Transportation and the MTA on the implementation of

         24  measures and means to enhance the student safety and

         25  also traffic conditions prior to school opening.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And just before

          4  you do I want to recognize two other colleagues who

          5  have joined us, Council Member James Oddo from

          6  Staten Island, our Minority Leader, and Council

          7  Member Simcha Felder. I also wanted to announce to

          8  the Land Use Committee members who are here, that

          9  the Land Use Committee is not going to meet today.

         10  It's going to meet tomorrow at 11:30 in the

         11  Chambers, which I wanted to point out, as the Chair

         12  reminded me, is not an additional meeting. We have

         13  to meet tomorrow anyway because this Subcommittee is

         14  going to recess and vote tomorrow morning at 10:45

         15  on this item.

         16                 So, there will be a 10:45 Landmarks

         17  Meeting in the Committee Room here, and 11:30 Land

         18  Use in the Chambers.

         19                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: Thank you. Good

         20  afternoon, Chairperson Lappin and Council members.

         21  My name is Vinnie Castagnola. I'm the Vice President

         22  for Quality Assurance, Quality Control at the SCA. I

         23  oversee the operations of the Safety Division, the

         24  Commissioning Unit, our In-House Building

         25  Department, as well as the Industrial and
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          2  Environmental Hygiene Division, to IH. The IH

          3  Division is responsible for all of our environmental

          4  investigations and to soil, ground water and soil

          5  vapor, developing remediation plans, working with

          6  DEC and DOH to obtain their approval, and monitoring

          7  the implementation of remediation plans during

          8  construction of our school.

          9                 After almost ten years of

         10  environmental investigations of the site, it is safe

         11  to say that this site is not a toxic site. It is not

         12  a brownfield site, it is not a SuperFund site, and

         13  to date, there has been no hazardous waste found at

         14  this site.

         15                 To give you an idea of the depth of

         16  our investigations here, we have done six different

         17  investigations since 2001 here. We have performed 63

         18  soil borings, 23 groundwater monitoring wells have

         19  been installed and 32 soil vapor samples have been

         20  taken, for an incredibly comprehensive investigation

         21  of the conditions of this site. And this is what we

         22  found:

         23                 We found that there was an

         24  underground oil storage tank that leaked some time

         25  in the early 1990s petroleum into the soil. That has
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          2  been removed. We found early on that the ground

          3  water had been contaminated by this leak, however,

          4  recent samplings since the Year 2006, has indicated

          5  that the groundwater is now clean. There is no

          6  evidence of petroleum contamination.

          7                 Soil vapor, we have found no

          8  compounds that were detected above New York State

          9  Department of Health air guideline standards. But as

         10  Deputy Mayor Walcott has said, because this is a

         11  school, we go to extraordinary lengths to ensure the

         12  safety and the health of the entire school

         13  communities.

         14                 We sat down with DEC and DOH that

         15  would develop a remediation plan that would ensure

         16  the health and safety of the entire school community

         17  for the entire life of the school.

         18                 And the primary means to do that was

         19  to eliminate any potential exposure pathways into

         20  the building from the site, regardless of what is

         21  there today or what might happen in the future.

         22                 So, we are going to excavate and

         23  dispose of approximately 6,000 tons of the soil that

         24  was contaminated by the leaking oil tank, and that

         25  the soil would be disposed of in full compliance
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          2  with all EPA, DEC and DEP regulations.

          3                 We will replace that soil with

          4  approximately 16 feet of environmentally clean soil,

          5  which I will get back to in a minute, and as added

          6  protection, because we want to ensure the safety of

          7  the school community for the life of the building.

          8  We're are also installing two other measures: A

          9  vapor barrier underneath the entire building to

         10  prevent any vapors from entering the building from

         11  underground, and as well as second belt and

         12  suspenders approach. An active sub-slab

         13  depressurization system which is basically a series

         14  of perforated pipes with an exhaust fan that will

         15  draw any vapors out from underneath the building,

         16  should any arrive.

         17                 After this work is done we will be

         18  performing an environmental -- indoor air quality

         19  test to ensure the school is safe to occupy before

         20  we occupy, and we will also be doing the work under

         21  a community air monitoring plan, to ensure that

         22  there is no adverse affect anywhere in the community

         23  while we are doing the work.

         24                 To ensure that the long-term plan

         25  remains effective to protect the school, we are
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          2  going to implement a very robust site management

          3  plan or operations in maintenance and monitoring

          4  program.

          5                 We will be monitoring the condition

          6  of the basement slab, to make sure that there are no

          7  penetrations through the vapor barrier, and we will

          8  monitor on a 24/7 365-day-a-year basis the

          9  effectiveness of the subslab depressurization

         10  system.

         11                 The monitoring will be part of our

         12  building management system, which provides four

         13  levels of detection, locally at the school, as well

         14  as at several points back at DSF, DOT's facilities

         15  maintenance offices headquarters, so that if there

         16  should ever be a stoppage in the system or a

         17  reduction in the flow of air in the system, we could

         18  immediately respond to the situation.

         19                 In response to the community's

         20  concerns, as Deputy Mayor Walcott raised before, we

         21  evaluated the request to use a different soil

         22  standard for backfill. Our plan developed with DEC

         23  and DOH was to use the latest DEC standard for the

         24  highest, cleanest level of soil, which they

         25  recommend for backfill purposes in undeveloped
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          2  nature preserves and farms upstate.

          3                 We listen to the community who

          4  requested that we apply an older standard which had

          5  been in effect prior to mid-December of 2006, and we

          6  have found that we have identified sources that can

          7  provide soil which meets both standards, so we have

          8  gladly agreed to the community's request for

          9  alternative soil standard. And as I said, we will be

         10  monitoring the operation of our subslab

         11  depressurization system 24/7. Should there be a

         12  failure of that system for longer than 24 hours, we

         13  will perform an indoor air monitoring test prior to

         14  reoccupancy to verify that the school is indeed safe

         15  for occupancy.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         18  much. I wanted to also recognize Council Member

         19  Miguel Martinez from Manhattan who has joined us.

         20                 I have a few questions, but before I

         21  do, I wanted to give my colleague, Council Member

         22  Gennaro, an opportunity to make a brief statement

         23  and ask questions of the panel.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair. Thank you, all, for being here today.
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          2  And my colleagues, as well, who are probably just

          3  getting versed in this now. But certainly in my

          4  community we've been dealing with this issue for a

          5  long time.

          6                 Let me just paint a little picture

          7  for the benefit of my colleagues and for those who

          8  are in the audience. Maybe before I do that, let me

          9  just thank you for your efforts. I know that what

         10  you're trying to do is create more and better

         11  educational opportunities for the students of the

         12  City of New York. That's admirable. No one disputes

         13  that. Everyone loves the Gateway School and the good

         14  work that they do. So, at its core what you're

         15  trying to accomplish here is something noble.

         16                 But here is the rub. The Hillcrest

         17  Estates Community, for those that don't know it very

         18  well, is a community that has consistently

         19  sacrificed for the sake of the greater good for the

         20  City of New York. It's host to the Queens Hospital

         21  Center, they have worked very, very cooperatively as

         22  that center has been called upon to be expanded.

         23  Some of the people who will give testimony today

         24  have been part and parcel of those discussions. But

         25  with this particular problem, but with this
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          2  particular project, this is a project,

          3  notwithstanding the community's history of sacrifice

          4  and support of projects for the greater good, this

          5  particular project doesn't have the support of the

          6  local community board, doesn't have the support of

          7  the Chairman of the local community board, Alvin

          8  Reshivak (phonetic), who is the very definition of a

          9  very, very reasonable guy, doesn't have the support

         10  of any of the local elected officials, with the

         11  exception of Helen who ultimately represents the

         12  whole borough, but in terms of the local

         13  Assemblyman, local State Senator, the Councilman,

         14  we, you know, continue to have issues with the

         15  school. And notwithstanding the progress that has

         16  been made in recent days and only in recent days,

         17  but that's not to take away from the fact that it is

         18  progress, there still is a way to go.

         19                 I want to certainly recognize the

         20  concession that's been made on soil. We understand

         21  that that was significant on parking, that is also

         22  significant. And as you will hear from people from

         23  the community who have come forward and testified on

         24  this proposal, you know, clearly we are not in a

         25  position now, neither myself nor any of the other
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          2  elected officials, nor the community, nor the

          3  community on board, and so there are still

          4  considerable work left to be done. And we've always

          5  been willing to come to the table, always been

          6  willing to talk, and so my main statement here today

          7  is to put the onus back onto the Administration, to

          8  listen very carefully to the testimony that's going

          9  to be advanced at today's hearing, and figure out

         10  whether or not there is the ability to bridge the

         11  gap that exists between this proposal and the local

         12  elected officials and the local community to see if

         13  we can reach a successful conclusion. That's still

         14  an open question in my mind, but I know that the

         15  Administration is, you know, deeply committed

         16  towards finding a way to make this proposal happen,

         17  but I think the measure of your commitment to make

         18  that happen will be measured in the coming days or

         19  weeks or whatever it is on your willingness to

         20  engage the community, which will not directly

         21  benefit from this school, it's not a neighborhood

         22  school, it's not a community school. It will serve

         23  kids Citywide, and why it is that they have to bear

         24  this additional burden that they will not directly

         25  benefit from.
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          2                 And, so, I make that challenge to

          3  you. It would be my hope that your entire team would

          4  stay here to listen to the testimony, it's going to

          5  be put forward by the responsible members of the

          6  community who have been working very assiduously to

          7  try to come to some kind of agreement, which has

          8  unfortunately alluded us.

          9                 Let me just pose my first question

         10  with regard to the contamination. Dr. Savino of Pace

         11  University had been involved in a pro bono work on

         12  behalf of the local residents to come forward with

         13  what he and his colleagues believe would be a good

         14  outcome in terms of the contamination at the site,

         15  and there was some question as to whether or not

         16  that document had been formally transmitted to you,

         17  that is a document that I made available to the SCA

         18  over the weekend.

         19                 Are you in formal receipt of that?

         20  And what is your position on whether or not you'd be

         21  willing to satisfy all of the elements that are in

         22  that document?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: First let me

         24  thank you for your leadership, and I concur with

         25  what you said in that I think has been ongoing
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          2  dialogue between the local elected officials, the

          3  Administration and other members of the Council, as

          4  well as ours, how we reach consensus in moving this

          5  project forward. As indicated in our testimony, this

          6  is an extremely important project. At the same time,

          7  we're very aware and sensitive to the issues raised

          8  by the community, and as a result of the

          9  discussions, we've made a number of attempts to try

         10  to respond to the community concerns, such as the

         11  parking issue, and specifically the environmental

         12  issue in addressing the backfill that would be put

         13  in place and making sure that we listened to what

         14  they had to say.

         15                 As you indicated just now, Dr.

         16  Savino's report we received over the weekend, so

         17  we're still in the process of reviewing that. We're

         18  not opposed to continuing our dialogue, and that's

         19  how strongly we believe in this project and the

         20  benefit it will have for students, and just one

         21  minor adjustment that I know we always, in a variety

         22  of our discussions when I'm before the Subcommittee

         23  or the full Committee, this particular school has a

         24  District 28 preference, and so the residents who are

         25  from the Hillcrest community, as you know way better
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          2  than I do, are members of District 28. So, they also

          3  will have the preference. But I think specifically,

          4  though, with any recommendations, we're open to

          5  listening. We're open to sitting down even after

          6  today's meeting and talking further, as far as

          7  specific concerns. We feel that as a result of all

          8  of our discussions we make tremendous progress. And

          9  on a majority of issues, for example, I think we

         10  held -- participated in a community meeting that you

         11  convened last week where we agreed to cap the number

         12  of students who will be attending this school. So,

         13  the 800 students who we've identified will be capped

         14  and I will be able to agree to that.

         15                 So, again, I think we look forward

         16  future discussions, and Sharon Greenberg, the

         17  President of the SCA, and the team who are here from

         18  the SCA, will be analyzing what's included in that

         19  report and then be glad to get back to you as quick

         20  as possible.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         22  Thank you. And I just want to also, you know, put on

         23  the record that notwithstanding what has been laid

         24  out as the protocol for speaking to the

         25  contamination, this process I guess is somewhat
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          2  burdened by the fact that the local Council members,

          3  Chairman of the Committee on Environmental

          4  Protection, and the local State Senator is a

          5  professional engineer, and so at this juncture, we

          6  continue to be not convinced of the level of

          7  protection that will be provided by the plan as

          8  proposed. And when people in the community come to

          9  me and come to other elected officials that

         10  represent the area, and say, well, you know, we have

         11  this, okay, we're going to take out some soil, we're

         12  going to put in Queens soil, and we're told like

         13  more than meets the standard, but just in the public

         14  mind, the whole notion that we have to prepare for

         15  the possibility that vapors are going to seep up, we

         16  have to have a barrier below the base of the

         17  building or to prevent that, we have to have a

         18  subslab depressurization system to allow for any

         19  vapors that might come up, to funnel themselves

         20  through this, you know, through this series of pipes

         21  that will be vented to the outside, we have

         22  monitoring devices there to make sure that should

         23  there be any kind of alert, should there be any kind

         24  of vapors, you know, we will know in time, and

         25  they're perplexed that, you know, why is it we can't
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          2  either, number one, select a site where such vapor

          3  intrusion might not be an issue; or number two, do

          4  everything possible to take out all of the

          5  contaminated soil, so that this is no longer an

          6  issue. And I can give them sort of like chapter and

          7  verse on State regulations and how you don't really

          8  have to do -- only so many number of feeds, feed of

          9  soil, but it's not working.

         10                 So, I'm trying to, you know, make the

         11  case for continued colloquy on how we speak to the

         12  contamination issue, and to, you know, make the case

         13  that more gains in that area are certainly going to

         14  be necessary in order to get the local elected

         15  officials, the local community board and the local

         16  community itself on board.

         17                 People can make an argument as to

         18  whether or not we are, you know, doing that, whether

         19  there's real substance to that or are we just sort

         20  of playing to people's fears, but, you know, these

         21  are valid community concerns, and, again, as

         22  Chairman of the Committee on Environmental

         23  Protection, I know something about these issues, the

         24  local State Senator who is a professional engineer,

         25  we're versed in these areas, and it is our belief
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          2  that significant more progress would have to be made

          3  before we could come to closure on the contaminated

          4  issue, on the issue of contamination.

          5                 If you wish to respond to that I'm

          6  more than happy to listen.

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: If I may, and

          8  I'm not the environmental expert, just for point of

          9  information for the record, we put vapor barriers in

         10  for all of our schools. So, that's a common

         11  protocol. And two, as indicated by Vinnie, that

         12  we've identified certain sites that really have the

         13  petroleum that's been part of the issue that's been

         14  identified, that we're in a process of remediating

         15  if the project is approved, and remediate if the

         16  process is approved. And, so, in response to the

         17  concerns raised by the Council member, the other

         18  elected officials and essentially the members of the

         19  community, we put other mechanisms in place, that

         20  way we would have the safeguards in place. And,

         21  again, I think it's just important for the record

         22  that I understand and respect all communities'

         23  concerns when there is an environmental issue. One

         24  of the things we try to be very clear about is

         25  making sure that we both meet the standard, the
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          2  State standard, but in this case, as well as other

          3  cases, exceed the State standard, and in this

          4  particular case, again, we are exceeding the State

          5  standards and that as a result of our dialogue with

          6  the community, have even gone beyond the exceeding

          7  of the State standards with the new type of backfill

          8  that will be put in place.

          9                 And, so, again, we're always

         10  interested in listening to see what's possible, to

         11  both satisfy the elected officials, as well as the

         12  community's concerns, but I think it's important

         13  just to stress that our goal is always to meet

         14  standards, but also go beyond that and exceed

         15  standards.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Certainly,

         17  and I don't challenge that. But we will be hearing

         18  testimony today from the area chairman of the

         19  community board, former school principal, you know,

         20  dedicated his life to public education, who is of

         21  the mind that with the contamination remediation

         22  protocol as put forward, you know, he wouldn't be

         23  comfortable putting his child in that school, to sit

         24  in that school for X number of hours per day over X

         25  number of years for fear of what that continued
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          2  exposure could potentially do.

          3                 He's not alone in that, and those

          4  views extend through the community up to the local

          5  State Senator. So, these are opinions that are being

          6  expressed by responsible individuals that have

          7  standing in the community, and so I think this

          8  further makes the case for how more exploration of

          9  that issue has to happen, and the proof will be in

         10  the pudding, or whatever the expression is, that we

         11  have got substance to deal with, we've got hearts

         12  and minds to deal with, you know, and we're not

         13  there on either of those plateaus, you know,

         14  notwithstanding the fact that through the advocacy

         15  of the community, through my pushing, through you

         16  folks willing to engage us, we have made some very

         17  considerable progress in the last week, which I am

         18  thankful for. But we're certainly not all the way

         19  down the Yellow Brick Road to Oz yet. So, that would

         20  be my statement on that. If you wish to respond, I

         21  don't want to monopolize here either. So, for now

         22  I'm going to -- I may follow up with a question but

         23  for now that's pretty much want I wanted to put

         24  forward. Thank you. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. I
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          2  wanted to acknowledge for my colleagues, and for

          3  everyone who is here in the community today, Council

          4  Member Gennaro has been working incredibly hard with

          5  the community and with the Administration, to

          6  resolve the issues that are outstanding. And I know

          7  that when I met with the community last week, and

          8  they outlined some of their concerns, even since

          9  then, due to Council Member Gennaro's leadership,

         10  we've made great progress, and I wanted to commend

         11  you for that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I want to ask two

         14  questions, one relating to bus service, and one

         15  related to reporting. And I think it was Mr. Ou who

         16  was discussing the fact that the MTA acknowledges

         17  that there is inadequate service, and my question

         18  is, and the MTA is not an agency that is typically

         19  all that easy to deal with, at least in my own

         20  personal experience, and is really run by the State

         21  and by the Governor, so my question is, in terms of

         22  getting commitments to address the issues around

         23  this location -- I guess, one, what is it that you

         24  would like the MTA to do exactly? And two, what's

         25  the plan to get the MTA to agree?
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          2                 MR. OU: Well, what I can tell you is

          3  I had a conversation with the Senior Director of

          4  Planning for the MTA bus company, and they advised

          5  that ever since they took over the lines, they have

          6  been monitoring the ridership demands and have been

          7  increasing service. They've advised that they will

          8  continue to do so until they are satisfied that the

          9  level of service meets the ridership needs.

         10                 As a practical matter, with respect

         11  to your question of how we go forward, the MTA's

         12  planning process is not unlike a number of other

         13  operational agencies. They will look at the data,

         14  and if, in fact, the school project is going

         15  forward, we know when the school would go on line,

         16  so we'll be able to give them several years of lead

         17  time to advise them of the number of students that

         18  we anticipate would be using bus service so that

         19  they can, again they are monitoring the ridership

         20  and also the continued growth and changes in

         21  ridership throughout the community.

         22                 So, it's really an opportunity to

         23  furnish the information early so they can plan

         24  around it because their role, and what they have

         25  done with the takeover of the private bus routes is
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          2  to address the inadequacies in service.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I understand

          4  that, but I know it's all relative. So, sometimes

          5  even if the MTA acknowledges that there is a

          6  problem, they will say but the problem is worse

          7  somewhere else, and we have limited resources.

          8                 So, if even after you provide them

          9  with information and they do ridership studies, they

         10  say, as they are saying now, service is inadequate,

         11  but we can't deal with it. And then what's the plan

         12  B in terms of the students getting to the site?

         13                 MR. OU: What the MTA has advised me

         14  is that they will deal with it, that in the case of

         15  public school students. The other piece we should

         16  keep in mind is even if these students are not going

         17  to the Gateway School, at the high school level

         18  students are traveling throughout Queens, so the

         19  reality is that the demand for bus service, whether

         20  it's on these particular lines going to this site,

         21  or on other lines going to other portions of Queens,

         22  going to the overcrowded Jamaica High School,

         23  Hillcrest High School, that that demand and that

         24  need will be there.

         25                 The opportunity we have here is that
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          2  we have the information that on the specifics that

          3  would be associated with this site and can furnish

          4  that to our colleagues at the MTA so they can plan

          5  effectively over this -- the planning process is

          6  such that the earlier you get the information in,

          7  the more effectively the services can be adjusted.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay. But my

          9  other question has to do with recording of, you

         10  know, the environmental monitoring that will be

         11  taking place at the site.

         12                 How will the SCA communicate to the

         13  community, to the parents, to the educators in the

         14  school about what the results are from the ongoing

         15  monitoring?

         16                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: We have a protocol in

         17  place to advise the principal through the DOE of any

         18  issues that may arise in the school, and then at the

         19  same time communicate that to the UFT and to the

         20  community, school community at large.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay.

         22                 I know that the Borough President of

         23  Queens is here, and the next to speak, and I

         24  appreciate your patience.

         25                 I wanted to allow the Chair, Council
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          2  Member Katz, to ask a question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Just a quick

          4  question. I forgot the answer, I know I knew it at

          5  one point. This Gateway School, and you might have

          6  talked about it, and I apologize, I had to go in and

          7  out of the room, there is a bunch of stuff going on

          8  at City Hall today, this school is being moved from

          9  one location to the other. Just very quickly, for

         10  those that might not know, the location of the

         11  existing Gateway School is, for the record?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: It's on --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Your

         14  microphone is off. Your microphone is off.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Oh, I'm sorry.

         16  It's on Parsons, off of Parsons Boulevard, around a

         17  block and a half off of Hillside Avenue, somewhat

         18  across the street from Hillcrest High School.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: My alma mater.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Right. So, it's

         21  right off of Hillside Avenue and Parsons Boulevard.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And my

         23  understanding is that has over 500 kids there now,

         24  right?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Five-hundred
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          2  sixty-seven.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Five-hundred

          4  sixty-seven. And that school will be moved, those

          5  kids, that school will be moved in totality to the

          6  new site, if DOE gets their plan?

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And then what's

          9  going to happen with that site?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: I don't know

         11  offhand.

         12                 Do you guys know?

         13                 Yes, I mean right now we don't know

         14  because we have to plan as far as where we are in

         15  our construction phase, with the other schools as

         16  well, but that site will be definitely used for the

         17  other school. So, the office of new school services

         18  will provide the planning for the use of that

         19  particular building.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I love that

         21  group. Thank you.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: They're the

         23  ones who create my gray hair.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Mine also. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Council Member

          4  Barron.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Thank you very

          6  much, Madam Chair.

          7                 I just waited around because I know

          8  we'll be voting on this. And school sitings is

          9  always an issue, sometimes some environmental

         10  issues, sometimes they're social issues, and I'm

         11  usually the race cop of the City Council, so I just

         12  always check to see if there's any racial issues,

         13  and I see that so it is a racially diversified

         14  community, and the students and all of that will be

         15  diversified racially?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: I can give you

         17  the exact breakdown of the racial composition of the

         18  school as it exists right now.

         19                 It is 53.8 percent black, 14.5

         20  percent Latino, 28.4 percent Asian and others, and

         21  the male breakdown is 36.3 percent and female is

         22  63.7 percent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And the

         24  immediate community where this school will be is

         25  same kind of demographics.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: I don't know

          3  the immediate demographics of the area. I can't give

          4  you a response, like with the school response, but I

          5  would have to defer to the local Councilman. I just

          6  don't know the racial mix of the area.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Okay.

          8                 And the contamination, wasn't there a

          9  medical doctor's office, a Medical Examiner's Office

         10  there, and some concern about the formaldehyde

         11  possibly being --

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Right. There

         13  are a number of sites on the Queens Hospital Center

         14  grounds and the site that we're talking about for

         15  the location of this particular school, it was the

         16  EMS site and therefore that's where the petroleum

         17  came from, so we have not, and tell me if I'm wrong,

         18  guys, we have not done the analysis at all of any

         19  formaldehyde or anything else, in this particular

         20  location.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Was it near --

         22  did the City's Medical Examiner's Office ever use

         23  that site?

         24                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: There is a morgue

         25  that was --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: A morgue? I

          3  think there just might be a little formaldehyde if

          4  there's a morgue there.

          5                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: Not on our site.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, not on

          7  your site.

          8                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: But it's adjacent to

          9  it. There was a Medical Examiner's area.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, it's

         11  adjacent.

         12                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So, there's no

         14  formaldehyde or nothing like that, no residue from

         15  the City Medical Examiner's Office near, being near

         16  there or on-site, that you were concerned about?

         17                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: None that we're

         18  concerned about. We did detect some formaldehyde but

         19  there were no, as I said before, there were no

         20  compounds detected above the Department of Health's

         21  Air Guideline Standards.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So some was

         23  detected but it was not above the guideline.

         24                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: And basically,
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          2  you're not replacing all the soil, just enough to

          3  make it safe and cap it at some point; is that it?

          4                 MR. CASTAGNOLA: Well, correct.

          5                 We are excavating 32 feet of deep

          6  soil. We are replacing it with 16 feet of clean

          7  soil, and then on top of that would be the basement

          8  of the school, another 16 feet. The standard

          9  approach to capping is to apply no more than two

         10  foot layer of clean soil, so here we're applying 16,

         11  which is eight times a level of safety that we're

         12  providing, as well as the vapor barrier and as well

         13  as the subslab depressurization system. So, we have

         14  three levels of safety involved here to protect

         15  against anything that may happen in the future,

         16  which is how we look at our schools and how we

         17  evaluate the sites.

         18                 We want to make them safe with the

         19  entire life of the school, not just for what's there

         20  today, but what may possibly happen tomorrow. We are

         21  in an urban environment, one never knows what

         22  happens in a developed area.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Right.

         24                 Council Member Gennaro, I guess I'll

         25  talk to you in the future and get some of your
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          2  concerns. I've got to run to another meeting --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But I just

          5  wanted to have some of those questions answered.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

          7  Council Member Barron. I appreciate that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Council Member

          9  Gennaro has one more question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Sure. I had

         11  some more, but I'll just do one because out of

         12  respect for the Borough President's time, we

         13  certainly want to get her off.

         14                 Just to recap, with regard to the

         15  document that was put forward by the environmental

         16  consultant at Pace University, Dr. Savino, Deputy

         17  Mayor Walcott indicated that that is under

         18  evaluation. Okay. But I don't think I mentioned in

         19  my earlier questioning, there was another list of

         20  concerns that was put forward by I guess like the

         21  local ad hoc community group, the area chair of the

         22  community board, the local civic leader, another

         23  civic leader whose organization is focused solely on

         24  this issue. That has been put forward as well.

         25  That's a very important document for me and we think
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          2  that summarizes what the key community concerns are,

          3  and so, I just want to put on the record that that

          4  is utmost important to me that the wishes of the

          5  community are looked after with respect to the

          6  formal list that they've put forward.

          7                 And those are kind of like my two

          8  statements, they don't really count as questions,

          9  but my question is that, just for the record, there

         10  was an alternate site for the school that was

         11  proposed by the local State Senator that didn't have

         12  any contamination problems, that was, my

         13  understanding, rejected by the SCA and the

         14  Department of Ed. Could you just opine on why the

         15  alternative site was not -- why that site was

         16  rejected?

         17                 MR. HOLDEN: Council member, with

         18  respect to the site, I guess it's at the Glen Oaks

         19  Campus, the issue there is that the Gateway School

         20  for Health Sciences is meant to have a symbiotic

         21  relationship with the Queens Hospital, to be on the

         22  grounds of Queens Hospital. Right now the kids, who

         23  are only a mile away, are taking time to get to

         24  school, precious time that could be used for

         25  instruction. The Glen Oaks Campus being even further
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          2  away would eat into that instructional time as well,

          3  and unfortunately, it would have a deleterious

          4  impact on the ability of the school to interact with

          5  the hospital. This is supposed to be a school that

          6  will help kids learn about the Health Sciences to

          7  find careers, and that's why we felt it was

          8  critically important for the school to be on the

          9  campus of Queens Hospital.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         11  But when you talk about having the site some

         12  distance away, kind of eating into school time, and

         13  I don't want to steal any thunder from the people

         14  who will be presenting testimony, I think their

         15  position would be that siting the school at this

         16  location eats into land that could otherwise be used

         17  for health-related activities that relate directly

         18  to the hospital, and they see a lot of activity

         19  taking place on the campus. We have Gateway Commons,

         20  we have all these other facilities going in, it's a

         21  lot of expansion, a lot of activity, it's a very

         22  vibrant hospital and this site will sort of eat into

         23  the ability of the hospital to expand in that area.

         24  But that will probed in some of the testimony that's

         25  going to be put forward by the community.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Just a quick

          3  response to that. I think a programmatic and an

          4  educational point of view, the collaboration between

          5  the Queens Hospital Center and their staff, along

          6  with the Gateway School staff is really laying the

          7  foundation for future doctors and researchers in the

          8  medical field, and as a result of the siting of the

          9  school on the particular grounds, it has been

         10  allowing the collaboration to increase I think even

         11  to a higher level. And I think the Queens Hospital

         12  Center staff and the City and the Economic

         13  Development Corporation have done a masterful job so

         14  far in managing the use of space and trying to

         15  minimize. And, again, I agree with what you said

         16  earlier, the adverse impact to the community and

         17  making sure that we maximize what available space is

         18  there for productive purposes, I think that will

         19  benefit the community and the City overall and to

         20  me, as we all know, there's nothing, as far as I

         21  believe, that is more important than how we benefit

         22  our students, and especially those students who have

         23  not had access to careers in medicine and medical

         24  research to be collaborating with the doctors and

         25  the people who are part of the Queens Hospital
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          2  Center.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

          4  And I'll close with the fact that we're going to

          5  hear some very compelling testimony from the local

          6  community. I would urge as many people possible to

          7  stay to kind of bear witness to that, to that

          8  testimony. And with that said, it's been a pleasure

          9  to see you today. And thank you, Madam Chair, for

         10  you indulgence.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. And we

         12  look forward to talking to you over the next 24

         13  hours on this matter.

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR WALCOTT: It's a

         18  pleasure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And Madam Borough

         20  President, if you would like to come and testify?

         21  And thank you, again, for your patience.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: It's a

         23  pleasure to be here with you today. It's the first

         24  time I've testified before your Committee.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Well, it's always
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          2  nice to welcome former Council members, as well.

          3                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Yes. Many

          4  great decisions have been made in this room and in

          5  that Chamber behind us, and I hope this will be one

          6  of those, too. I want to thank you for this

          7  opportunity to speak to you about the proposed

          8  Gateway High School. I speak in support of the high

          9  school. What is more important than the future of

         10  our children? They will be the residents, workers

         11  and leaders of tomorrow. Medical care and technology

         12  are constantly changing and advancing. We need to

         13  give our students all available advantages and

         14  resources in a proper setting, to prepare them to do

         15  the research and the work of the future.

         16                 In addition to academic training,

         17  practical hands-on experience in a state-of-the-art

         18  facility, a real-life clinical setting is essential

         19  to gaining the highly specialized education and

         20  technical training that are required to become a

         21  doctor, a nurse, a technician, in a constantly

         22  advancing environment. The health of our people is

         23  growth industry. The health of our people is our

         24  first line of defense. As you noticed, the Mayor is

         25  trying to do everything he can to improve the
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          2  environment and the atmosphere, and I think he's on

          3  the right track there. Nearly always right. That is

          4  why it is crucial that the Gateway High School is

          5  located on the Queens Hospital Center Campus.

          6                 Not so long ago another

          7  Administration was ready to shut down this hospital,

          8  and we fought it like mad because it was only one of

          9  the two public hospitals that we have in the Borough

         10  of Queens. He wanted to sell it for development. It

         11  was after a long, hard fight that the

         12  state-of-the-art Queens Hospital, which has

         13  developed its Centers of Excellence, led by my

         14  predecessor Claire Shulman. It was built as part of

         15  a plan to transform that campus into a facility that

         16  will truly make a difference for all parts of our

         17  community, young and old. The key to locating the

         18  Gateway High School on the Queens Hospital Campus is

         19  exactly that, it's in close proximity to a working

         20  hospital that provides the knowledge, experience

         21  that can be gained nowhere else.

         22                 Instead of losing valuable time

         23  commuting, students will be minutes away from

         24  invaluable training and time spent in clinical

         25  settings. The training and education received on
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          2  this campus would prepare our students to go on to

          3  meaningful careers in the medical profession. I am a

          4  teacher by profession. I served on the Education

          5  Committee here. I actually started the Committee, I

          6  was the founding Chair of the Committee on Higher

          7  Education, which we did not have, we had one

          8  Committee from kindergarten through high school, and

          9  we were very busy and I'm very proud of our system,

         10  I'm very proud of Chancellor Matthew Goldstein.

         11                 This opportunity will provide a

         12  meaningful, exciting curriculum for high school

         13  students.

         14                 This is not always possible for many

         15  of our kids who are in high school, but for a young

         16  high school student, and I attended Community Board

         17  8's meeting, and I hear their concerns, a young high

         18  school student standing and saying "I will be a

         19  doctor," and his family doesn't have an awful lot of

         20  money. He's going to get it because he's gotten this

         21  foundation in Gateway School, which is where these

         22  children are all coming from. They selected that

         23  high school because they wanted to go into health

         24  professions.

         25                 In order to assure that this site is
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          2  suitable for the Gateway High School, the School

          3  Construction Authority has conducted, as required by

          4  law, environmental assessments and comprehensive

          5  testing, as specified by the regulations in New York

          6  State Environmental Quality Review Act. I have a war

          7  room (sic) on School Construction, which was also

          8  started by my predecessor, and I have certainly kept

          9  it going, and we need -- and the reason for it is

         10  because we are desperately in need of seats for

         11  children in Queens, and if everything goes right, by

         12  the time I leave office there will be a seat for

         13  every student in Queens, and a seat being planned

         14  for them, and that is the direction which the School

         15  Construction Authority is moving.

         16                 These actions are summarized in a

         17  number of documents that disclose the findings,

         18  required mitigations and all actions required to

         19  fully address any environmental concerns. All

         20  actions were planned and completed with close

         21  consultation with the New York State Department of

         22  Environmental Conservation, which is the toughest

         23  one to satisfy. And the New York State Department of

         24  Health.

         25                 Extensive measures were taken: Soil
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          2  vapor sampling, soil borings, and monitoring wells

          3  were installed to assess the extent and content of

          4  contamination around the site where underground

          5  storage tanks have been located. The resulting data

          6  were used to formulate again in conjunction with

          7  approval with the New York State DEC and Department

          8  of Health, State Department of Health, a plan that

          9  would effectively address the contamination that was

         10  found. And we do not build schools on contaminated

         11  ground. These are our children. This is New York

         12  City. This is the United States of America.

         13                 The plan includes excavation of 6,000

         14  tons of soil, replacement of that soil with clean

         15  fill, groundwater monitoring wells will be installed

         16  and checked with findings reported by the New York

         17  State DEC on a quarterly basis. A vapor barrier, as

         18  you heard earlier, and depressurization system will

         19  be installed below the building to prevent anything

         20  from entering it. And monitoring will be in place

         21  during the entire remediation period to protect

         22  workers during all phases on the site.

         23                 In addition to the soil issues,

         24  measures have been outlined to address traffic and

         25  transportation issues that were identified in the
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          2  assessments, all of these were conducted as

          3  specified by New York State Law.

          4                 One of the, particularly as far as

          5  the MTA was concerned, I've been around a long time,

          6  I was very active in the public schools for 15

          7  years, I served on the Transportation Committee in

          8  the State in Albany for nine years. The Department

          9  works with schools. Right now we have specialized

         10  buses that are designated strictly for the children

         11  coming home from school. We have it at Hillcrest, we

         12  have it at Bound High School, and I know that we

         13  have it at Newtown High School. That is in the

         14  mornings. There are extra buses put on that says

         15  school children, you know, it tells you what school,

         16  and they're specified for those children to get them

         17  back and forth to school and that is a practice that

         18  can be very easily put in place here at this school.

         19                 The promise of the Gateway High

         20  School cannot be fulfilled on any other site. I

         21  would not support this plan unless I was confident

         22  that the safety and health of our students and the

         23  workers who will build it are absolutely protected.

         24  And I would not support this plan if it would harm

         25  the surrounding community.
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          2                 Council Member Gennaro knows I sat

          3  here on the Environmental Committee, and he was a

          4  great Counsel to that Committee, and he knows how I

          5  feel about the environment.

          6                 I strongly urge you to approve the

          7  Gateway High School on the Queens High School

          8  Campus, because it will become an invaluable

          9  resource in preparing our children's careers and

         10  their futures in medicine. I am confident that this

         11  program will become an example of excellence in the

         12  New York City school system.

         13                 I would like to say that it is not

         14  unusual to encounter opposition to a new school.

         15  Many times people are seeing things they're

         16  concerned about. One of the things I do want to say,

         17  and I can only speak for myself, I've always tried

         18  to work with the community and make sure that those

         19  concerns are addressed, and I'm confident that that

         20  has been happening here.

         21                 And cooperation with the community

         22  and government are extremely helpful. The community

         23  has expressed a number of concerns, primarily around

         24  the environmental conditions, and as has been

         25  stated, we have gone beyond the requirements, which
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          2  is fine.

          3                 The second issue was parking. Here

          4  again, parking has been established on the site.

          5  Because I'll tell you, anybody who wants to build

          6  anything in Queens, parking is always a problem

          7  these days. Most families have two cars, sometimes

          8  even three, so parking is something that we really

          9  need in Queens because people use it to get around.

         10  It's a lot easier. We need to build our public

         11  transportation network.

         12                 I sat on the Education Committee here

         13  in the City Council, and I've been an activist for

         14  15 years in public schools, and so I know that this

         15  can happen.

         16                 I want to thank you for your

         17  consideration and your time, and I can't express to

         18  you how important it will be for these youngsters to

         19  be on the grounds of the campus. Today we're trying

         20  to keep kids interested in high school, make it

         21  exciting for them. This will give them excellent

         22  opportunity, and I am pushing also for a biomedical

         23  establishment also on the grounds here, which will

         24  give them an additional kind of understanding,

         25  because they can maybe even go into that.
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          2                 But I'm very concerned about the

          3  local community. There's no question about it. I am

          4  mostly concerned about the students and the quality

          5  of education they will get and what they will give

          6  back to us as a community, as a City.

          7                 So, I am very much in support of

          8  this. If there is anything else that has to be done,

          9  I will work with Gennaro and anyone else who has a

         10  concern. And I do trust the experts. Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you. Thank

         12  you very much for coming in person and taking the

         13  time to testify. You obviously are very passionate

         14  and feel very strongly about this. I don't have any

         15  questions.

         16                 Do you, Council Member Gennaro?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         18  Madam Chair. I just want to thank you, Helen, for

         19  your deep commitment to education, all you've done

         20  for education, all you've done for libraries, all

         21  the things related to education.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Got to

         23  take care of the future.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Here here.

         25  And as I said at the outset, no one questions the
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          2  good intent, which is really at the core, of this

          3  proposal. But, of course, like all things, the devil

          4  is in the details, and I don't want to recreate the

          5  Board 8 hearing, but when you have a situation where

          6  all three local elected officials, plus the Chair of

          7  the Community Board, plus the majority of the Board,

          8  plus the local civics all have, you know,

          9  significant problems, you know we're just not at a

         10  place on June 4th, or whatever today is, June 4th,

         11  that we've come to closure on this. And there are

         12  significant issues still out there. But I will take

         13  you up on your offer to sort of urge the

         14  Administration, and I know they have a commitment to

         15  it, towards your working very closely with the

         16  community, we know that you have some influence over

         17  them and as we go through this, there are other

         18  elected officials who are in the mix and so it's a

         19  combination of the substance and of the hearts and

         20  minds that there is still a lot of work to do. But I

         21  take it by your presence today, I think speaks

         22  volumes about your commitment to not only this

         23  project, but to basic fairness for the community.

         24  And, so, I will look upon you and your good office

         25  as a resource, as we continue to try to work out
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          2  these issues.

          3                 Thank you very much for being here.

          4                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: There

          5  have been other schools even before I got to this

          6  position, that were opposed by all the politicians

          7  in the area, okay? And we have still gone forward

          8  with those schools because it was the right thing to

          9  do. And guess what? When the school is up, everybody

         10  is very happy with it. School Construction

         11  Authority, and I was there for that vote to remove

         12  the -- what do you call it, to change the Wycks law

         13  so that we now have one contractor building them,

         14  the schools are built with a design towards the

         15  community, Jackson Heights, which we had a synagogue

         16  that was taken down because they built a new

         17  synagogue and they sold it to the City, and the

         18  design of the school fits right in with the

         19  community, the community embraces it. And that has

         20  been our experience, from my predecessor it's my

         21  experience too.

         22                 I know many people have concerns when

         23  a school is going up for one reason or the other,

         24  but it's all the more reason that we're very careful

         25  that we take care of all issues involved in the
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          2  school.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Well, certainly

          4  our goal is to do this with Council Member Gennaro's

          5  support and with the support of the other elected

          6  officials, because I think really what he's been

          7  doing is representing and advocating for the

          8  community and the concerns that they have raised,

          9  which are legitimate and very fair and we have made

         10  good progress. We're just not there yet. But I'm

         11  hopeful, I really hope that we can get there.

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: But thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Nice to see

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay, we'd like

         19  to bring up the next panel.  We'll do two panels.

         20  Bernie Diamond, who is the Community Board 8

         21  Chairman, Area Chairman. Kevin Forrestal, Hillcrest

         22  Estates Civic Association. And Jackie Forrestal from

         23  the Hillcrest Estates Civic Association. Those

         24  three. And then if you all want to come up -- are

         25  they still here?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: They're here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay. So, we'll

          4  start with those three and then we'll hear from

          5  Robert Trabold and Dan O'Neil afterwards. And if you

          6  can just give us one moment before you begin to get

          7  sort of reorganized.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: There are some

          9  of you that are here for the meeting after this.

         10  That will be taking place, so just so you know. It's

         11  another topic.

         12                 MR. DIAMOND: We'll hang in. I think

         13  it's important and we will definitely stay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KATZ: We might be late,

         15  but we'll be there.

         16                 MR. DIAMOND: So what's for dinner?

         17                 Shall I begin?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Just give us

         19  another 30 seconds.

         20                 MR. DIAMOND: Oh, sure. Whenever.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And I'm going to

         22  ask that when we do begin, if you can try to limit

         23  your comments to three minutes, that would be

         24  helpful because we're running so late. And why don't

         25  you go ahead and begin, please.
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          2                 MR. DIAMOND: Good afternoon, Madam

          3  Chairperson, members of the Council. I'm Bernie

          4  Diamond, Area Chair for Community Board 8, and as

          5  indicated by our Councilman Jim Gennaro, I'm a

          6  former principal. I'm also a former school district

          7  administrator, and worked with School District 4

          8  under Tony Alvarado, and I am now retired,

          9  obviously.

         10                 When I was a principal of a school,

         11  my first concern, especially in East Harlem, was the

         12  health and safety of the children. That was my

         13  primary concern. It wasn't toxic soil, but it was

         14  drugs. And drug peddling. And once I dealt with

         15  those issues, my concern then turned to education.

         16  But in the few minutes I have here today, let me

         17  state what hasn't been discussed at all.

         18                 The issue that needs to be discussed,

         19  as if you ask any of the members of the School

         20  Construction Authority will they guarantee 100

         21  percent safety of the toxic remediations that they

         22  are providing, they will tell you, because they have

         23  stated so in the past in our meeting with them, no,

         24  they cannot guarantee it 100 percent that it will be

         25  effective. They say it will be 99.9 percent, but
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          2  maybe it will be 95.5 percent, maybe it will be 91.1

          3  percent. I don't know, you don't know, and they

          4  don't know.

          5                 What we're dealing with here is a

          6  ticking time bomb that can explode at any time.

          7  Fifty years from now, or 25 years from now, when

          8  things go wrong, and things do go wrong, who is

          9  going to be accountable for children in a school

         10  that will be affected by the toxic materials that

         11  are coming through the school through vents?

         12                 The truth of the matter is that we're

         13  facing a major issue that I think is a positive

         14  issue for the Council to consider, and that's the

         15  building of any school at any location in the City

         16  of New York on a toxic site.

         17                 You say, well, we have to build

         18  schools, we need them, so we're going to build them

         19  because what's available really are toxic sites.

         20                 But the answer is, it's not

         21  acceptable to build any school anywhere on a toxic

         22  site, not only here in New York City, but throughout

         23  the country.

         24                 Other locations, other ways to deal

         25  with this situation must be found.
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          2                 In this particular instance, we have

          3  an alternative. We have a toxic-free site ten

          4  minutes away by bus that has no toxic issues, it has

          5  no parking issues, and the answer is School

          6  Construction Authority isn't even considering it

          7  because they had their mind set on doing this.

          8                 In the 1970s, when I was a School

          9  District Administrator, we closed schools throughout

         10  the City because of a declining school population,

         11  and, in fact, that was a major mistake, because that

         12  was only temporary and we're now paying the cost of

         13  that through billions of dollars of new

         14  construction, with 200 sites or so being planned by

         15  School Construction Authority and Administration, by

         16  the additional funds we had from the State, we have

         17  to get away from building schools on toxic sites. We

         18  have to look for other alternatives because they're

         19  our children, all our children, I will put not my

         20  child there, I wouldn't put my grandchild there, and

         21  you need to consider that in approving or

         22  disapproving this site because in fact it should not

         23  be built here, if we have in this case an

         24  alternative that's really very simple and readily

         25  available.

                                                            67

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

          3                 MR. FORRESTAL: Madam Chair, my name

          4  is Kevin Forrestal. I am the President of the

          5  Hillcrest Estates Civic Association. I'm also a

          6  member of Community Board 8 and in June, I, being

          7  the only nominated person, I will be elected Chair

          8  of the Community Advisory Board at Queens Hospital

          9  Center.

         10                 I will shorten my remarks because I'm

         11  going to add a couple of things. Just some

         12  corrections to what was said by the representatives

         13  from School Construction and the Deputy Mayor.

         14                 The District Schools that are

         15  affected, the Hillcrest Estates or District 28,

         16  which we said which is correct, District 29, which

         17  is the majority of the residents in District 25, let

         18  me read from the environmental assessment form

         19  prepared by the SCA.

         20                 The presence of formaldehyde in the

         21  soil vapors appear to be attributed to the on-site

         22  and off-site operations that have likely used this

         23  chemical in the past.

         24                 I give you that that was the Chief

         25  Medical Examiner's Office, and so on, the laundry
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          2  and the garage for the trucks would be very unlikely

          3  using formaldehyde. By the way, the alternate site

          4  is not in Glenn Oaks, it is in Bellrose, off

          5  Hillside Avenue, just to sort of emphasize for the

          6  amount of considerations, they didn't even know

          7  where the site is.

          8                 There has been a huge amount of

          9  development in the area. Council Member Katz is very

         10  aware of it from her days, and the Borough

         11  President's Office, and it continues. I'm not going

         12  to go into all the details because it's time, but

         13  after our meeting, Chair Lappin, we went back and

         14  identified the number of schools in the area, and

         15  much to my surprise I had missed some. I have a list

         16  of 23 schools, of both private and public, in the

         17  roughly half-mile radius of the siting of the area.

         18                 In April 2005, Mayor Bloomberg

         19  acknowledged that the neighborhood has done its fair

         20  share of taking on the burden. Not surprised because

         21  of all the construction activities and the

         22  expansions and the developments, the parking problem

         23  is massive. The Urbatron Parking Study is so wrong

         24  that it is insulting. Simply put, we don't have any

         25  on-street parking for any period of time during
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          2  normal operations of the business week.

          3                 We note there are open spaces on the

          4  Queens Hospital Center's parking lots, but because

          5  of cost of $50 a month, the addition of another 60

          6  to 80 cars would put an undue burden upon this

          7  already horrific problem.

          8                 The proposed site is contaminated

          9  with cancer-causing chemicals. There is a

         10  remediation plan. We have worked with Pace

         11  University to improve the plan. SCA has verbally

         12  stated they will accept some of Dr. Schlessinger's

         13  and Dr. Savino's suggestions. They have not agreed

         14  to have monitoring of the air in the schools itself.

         15                 I would like to note also that the

         16  EMS site calls for placing back an underground

         17  chemical storage for gasoline, which is the same

         18  Department City agency and the same vehicle that

         19  contaminated the land in the first place.

         20                 Briefly, I'd like to point out that

         21  for the inconvenience of ten minutes of moving

         22  people, a small percentage of the students back and

         23  forth, warrants that the children sit on top of

         24  cancer-causing for 180 days times six years. They is

         25  assuming they do graduate within four years for the
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          2  high school and the pre-school. I urge you to vote

          3  for the safety of the children. There is always a

          4  risk if there is soil contamination. Every day we

          5  read about some government agency doing something

          6  stupid, and not following through and having

          7  accidents. There is a danger, and the danger can be

          8  mitigated, because there is a site in Bellrose can

          9  that was a ballfield before, that is safe, and that

         10  we urge you to advocate for the alternative site.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MS. FORRESTAL: Good afternoon,

         13  everyone. Before I begin reading my message to you

         14  from State Senator Padavan, I'd like to add that

         15  where the site is, Gateway School, that's moving to

         16  the Queens Hospital Center, the environmental study

         17  says that this site is in Briarwood. It is not in

         18  Briarwood. It is in Hillcrest Estates.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: If you can

         20  identify yourself for the record, please.

         21                 MS. FORRESTAL: Oh, I'm Jackie

         22  Forrestal.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thanks.

         24                 MS. FORRESTAL: From Hillcrest Estates

         25  Civic Association, and I am reading a statement
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          2  today from our State Senator Padavan.

          3                 Situating the Gateway School on the

          4  Queens Hospital Campus, will raise numerous issues

          5  relative to traffic safety, and the environment

          6  which will adversely affect the quality of life in

          7  the surrounding community.

          8                 None of these issues, however,

          9  detract from all of the good work being done by

         10  Gateway. That is why I have proposed an alternative

         11  site, specifically the Creedmore Campus, which will

         12  not create the problems that will arise from Queens

         13  Hospital Center's location.

         14                 This ill-advised proposal has been

         15  opposed by Community Board 8, various community

         16  leaders and civic associations.

         17                 Furthermore, the issues that have

         18  been raised have not been adequately addressed. For

         19  instance, the environmental assessment form, and

         20  parking survey, came to a rather dubious conclusion,

         21  as people will not be inclined to walk a half mile

         22  from the parking spots to the school, and teachers

         23  will probably drive around the neighborhood looking

         24  for a space rather than pay the $50 per month fee.

         25  The traffic and parking situation in the area,
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          2  already problematic, will be exacerbated should the

          3  school be built.

          4                 The most concern involves soil and

          5  groundwater contamination, carrying with it the

          6  potential that dangerous toxins and carcinogens will

          7  permeate into the vicinity, rising in part from the

          8  past storage of petroleum at this site.

          9                 The planned ventilation system to

         10  expel toxic fumes raises issues of its own that need

         11  to be answered regarding oversight and the City's

         12  ability to monitor and maintain this system,

         13  engendering a public health issue of substantial

         14  portions.

         15                 Moreover, the ability of the

         16  excavations and the remedial action work plan, which

         17  removes soil contaminants, is far from certain. In

         18  addition, the cost of this remediation would be

         19  exorbitant.

         20                 This proposal will most certainly

         21  deleteriously impact this community in various and

         22  sundry ways, as the streets will become more

         23  congested, parking spaces unavailable and public

         24  services strained to deal with the influx of

         25  teachers and students into the area.
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          2                 Needless to say, the environmental

          3  condition there obviously negatively predisposes

          4  this site to the placement of a school, as students,

          5  faculty, and the community at large, will be put at

          6  risk of exposure to dangerous toxins and chemicals.

          7                 There is simply no reason to

          8  jeopardize the community to this extent. The

          9  benefits of Gateway can be garnered without these

         10  sizable and serious drawbacks by locating the school

         11  at the alternative for the sake of the well-being of

         12  the prospective students, teachers and community of

         13  Jamaica, and all the parties involved.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Katz, do you have any

         17  questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes. I'm looking

         19  for the SCA letter. I don't see it. Sorry. Hi,

         20  everyone. I guess for the record I should state that

         21  my relationship with Community Board 8 and these

         22  civics go way back, and I have the utmost faith in

         23  these representatives and I've been through many

         24  battles with them, some on the same side, some not,

         25  but we always ended up I think in a good place and I
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          2  have the utmost respect for them.

          3                 But I have a question. I'm trying to

          4  sort of get to the root of all of this. I'm Chair of

          5  the overall Land Use Committee, I mean this is what

          6  I've been doing now since you guys saw me grow up in

          7  the Borough President's Office, but it's been six

          8  years and we've placed schools all over the City of

          9  New York. And, so, I guess what I'm really trying to

         10  get at is, whether the opposition to this site is

         11  really just that. It's just, we don't want the

         12  school here, period, or -- and that's fair. I'm not

         13  saying that that's a bad thing. That's fair. Or

         14  whether, I know we have a list of things, for

         15  instance, about the feasibility study, of diagonal

         16  parking and the school staff and the teacher

         17  support, you know, free parking, the environmental

         18  issues and whether we take all the soil out,

         19  basically, and take care of the environmental

         20  issues. I guess my question is at the core, if we

         21  resolve all of these issues, will the community be

         22  for the school?

         23                 MR. DIAMOND: Let me say, in terms of

         24  the community, and by the way, we have an overall --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I mean you as
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          2  the community. I meant you guys.

          3                 MR. DIAMOND: Well, as Chair of the

          4  Area, I conducted the public hearing, which

          5  unanimously opposed the siting of the school, and at

          6  the public meeting of the community board, it was

          7  two to one in opposition, and that's even though the

          8  Borough President was present, and Deputy Mayor

          9  Walcott was present. So, some may have had been a

         10  little, wanting to be on the good side, let me put

         11  it that way.

         12                 The real issue is, the two major

         13  issues: One, the community impact; and second is the

         14  environment. School Construction Authority has a

         15  very spotty record of building schools on toxic

         16  sites, period. They have their track record going to

         17  Mott Haven, Soundview, and PS 141 in Manhattan,

         18  where no one wants to put children at danger or at

         19  risk, but the fact is that mistakes are made, and

         20  over time who is going to be accountable? Fifty

         21  years from now none of us are going to be here, but

         22  the children are going to be there. So, who is going

         23  to take responsibility when things go wrong, and

         24  things do go wrong all over the United States. Just

         25  an article in the paper the other day at New Jersey

                                                            76

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          2  and so on.

          3                 So, the answer is, do we want the

          4  school? The school, we're not talking about the

          5  school existing. We're just talking about the

          6  location of the school.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right. And I

          8  don't mean to be -- look, I'm trying to cut to the

          9  chase. We have a lot of issues that we deal with on

         10  Land Use and Councilman Gennaro and I and the Chair

         11  of the Subcommittee, Jessica Lappin, you know, we

         12  negotiate these things weekly, and it's important to

         13  know, though, when we're negotiating whether in the

         14  end it's just that the community doesn't want it.

         15  And that's okay, it's just that we sort of need to

         16  know that because we're really right now planning,

         17  as you know, to negotiate with the Administration on

         18  every single point that you're talking about, and

         19  the Councilman has been very clear to the

         20  Administration that this is important to him, in

         21  order to get accommodations for the community. But,

         22  I, as the Chair of the Committee and the Chair of

         23  the Subcommittee, need to know if we go through all

         24  of this and we get accommodations -- I mean, I think

         25  it's a fair question: Is it just that this is not
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          2  the site, period?

          3                 MR. DIAMOND: We do not want the

          4  school at this site. That is the final.

          5                 The recent discussions we had with

          6  Deputy Mayor Walcott and School Construction

          7  Authority is, well, maybe they're trying to

          8  negotiate free parking on the site. They have to

          9  talk to Al Aviles at Health and Hospital

         10  Corporation. Everything is like maybe yes, maybe no,

         11  we have nothing firm, and we would insist that no

         12  matter what agreement is reached, if, in fact, you

         13  cannot get the Council to disapprove the siting, is

         14  we need to have what we need to have in writing,

         15  that we are guaranteed that there is no

         16  misunderstandings about what's being said. Is there

         17  going to be free parking for the length of the time

         18  the school is going to be there? We don't know.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: See, that's my

         20  point, though. And, again, we've been through a lot

         21  of battles. So, we know each other well, and that's

         22  really why I'm asking that. Is that what if we get

         23  all that in writing?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: And I do want to

         25  point out that when the Deputy Mayor testified today
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          2  on the record that they will in perpetuity have free

          3  parking on the site for the educators in the

          4  building. So, he made that statement today on the

          5  record and I think there would be a commitment to

          6  get in writing in addition all of these things to

          7  provide to the community.

          8                 But I just want it to be clear, and

          9  that was also in Senator Padavan's statement about

         10  community issues that have not been addressed, that

         11  is one that has been addressed by the Administration

         12  and that they have stated affirmatively on the

         13  record. So, I just wanted to as a point of

         14  information make that clear.

         15                 MR. FORRESTAL: I'd like to point out

         16  also that we think that it's a bad site. I

         17  personally would not say categorically that under no

         18  circumstances, you know, I'm not going to lie down

         19  in front of the bulldozer to stop it --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You know, I know

         21  you long enough. You might.

         22                 MR. FORRESTAL: I'm not going to do it

         23  on this issue. But for example, the numbers of spots

         24  I was shown before was 50, the numbers that would

         25  not give as an example all the staff parking. So,
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          2  the devil is in the details. As Bernie said, we need

          3  it in writing, we need several other things. We also

          4  need to put in writing some of the things that were

          5  said verbally by School Construction. I have no

          6  question that they're being honest, but memories do

          7  fail sometimes. There's a whole series of safeguards

          8  that the scientists just accepted, this is fine, and

          9  then the question of what was being objected to was

         10  things that taking verbally -- but there needs to be

         11  more negotiations. And let's also point out, the

         12  perpetual free parking wasn't on the table Thursday,

         13  it was offered 2:00, 3:00, whatever it was, today.

         14  So, we need a little time to think.

         15                 MR. DIAMOND: Melinda, we're trying to

         16  turn a lose/lose situation - a lose situation for

         17  putting children at risk --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.

         19                 MR. DIAMOND: And an overburdened and

         20  over-utilized community absorbing another major use.

         21  And it's really easily turned to a win/win situation

         22  by having the children being bussed for ten minutes.

         23  Eight-hundred children aren't going into Queens

         24  Hospital Center for an experience at the same time.

         25  They take maybe 50 children for two or three hours
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          2  and grade seven and eight children have very limited

          3  things that they can do in the hospital by law.

          4                 So, why continue with this issue on

          5  this site when there is an alternative site that

          6  makes sense in every way to make this a win/win

          7  situation for the children, as well as for the

          8  community?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So what I'm

         10  hearing, I mean, not to beat the dead horse that

         11  I've beaten now a few times, but so what I'm hearing

         12  basically is we don't want this site period, but if

         13  they're going to do this site, we need these things

         14  in writing. But even if we get them in writing, your

         15  civics and the community board will still be against

         16  the project.

         17                 MR. DIAMOND: Very honestly.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.

         19                 MR. DIAMOND: Even if we get it in

         20  writing, and it addresses most of the concerns that

         21  we have, the bottom line is there are term limits,

         22  unfortunately, and people who are here today making

         23  decisions will not be here tomorrow to honor those

         24  decisions that are made.

         25                 We have a perfect example of PS 499
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          2  at the Queens College Campus, where commitments were

          3  made, then term limits came and people disappeared.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.

          5                 I thank you, Madam Chair. I really

          6  just wanted to clarify it. Like I said, I have a

          7  history with Community Board 8 and the utmost

          8  respect for these three activists, and I really just

          9  wanted to be clear on the position as we go forward

         10  for the next day.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I've enjoyed

         12  meeting them. They're very dedicated and

         13  intelligent. And I would say, as I said to my

         14  colleagues and the Administration, I think all of

         15  the issues you raised were very reasonable and your

         16  concerns were reasonable, and that's why I feel like

         17  we could possibly address them, but that's why this

         18  is an important question, if we do address them,

         19  then what would the position in the community be.

         20                 Council Member Gennaro.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you.

         22  Thank you, Madam Chair, let me just, not to beat it

         23  any further, but let's just say with regard to

         24  parking it was for the requisite amount of spaces

         25  and it was going to be 100 years or whatever, let's

                                                            82

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          2  just say we got that nailed down in writing to

          3  everyone's satisfaction just on the parking issue,

          4  and with regard to the contamination, I mean it is

          5  theoretically possible, something I have sort of

          6  probed with the SCA, what if we took out all, a-l-l,

          7  all of the soil, all right down to, so we go down to

          8  sort of like Adam and Eve standard there to get out

          9  all the stuff, and then we bring in Adam and Eve

         10  quality soil, which would presumably take the

         11  contamination issue off the table I guess, if we

         12  could get that commitment and the amount of money

         13  wasn't crazy and they wanted it bad enough that they

         14  wanted to do that, and able to get that done, and

         15  then the Transit and the MTA is a bit of matsah

         16  ball, because who knows what they do, or who they're

         17  responsive to, but if we were to, you know,

         18  guarantee the parking to everyone's satisfaction, go

         19  down to Adam and Eve standards, with regard to the

         20  contamination, do all of the other reasonable steps

         21  within our control, the set-aside for local

         22  students, whatever, leaving pretty much the MTA as

         23  the only sort of item still out there, what do you

         24  believe would be the position of the community?

         25                 Like in blood we had it on the
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          2  contamination, in blood like on the parking, where

          3  would we be --

          4                 MR. DIAMOND: At the meeting you

          5  convened just recently with Deputy Mayor Walcott,

          6  the Construction Authority and the community leaders

          7  on this, you asked that very same question. Why not

          8  remove, because what was stated was another 12 feet

          9  of contaminated soil, why not remove that, or what

         10  would it cost to remove that? So, therefore, if all

         11  the contaminated soil was that, we would be talking

         12  about a contamination issue, because there's nothing

         13  to contaminate or affect the children in the school

         14  building. And their response was they don't know,

         15  they haven't looked at it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right. But

         17  this is, June 4th is like let us say a different

         18  date than May 31st, but hypothetically setting aside

         19  what's said or didn't get said on May 31st, if we

         20  got the contamination, that absolute removal of all

         21  contaminants and absolute to deal with the parking,

         22  you know, comprehensively and in perpetuity, and all

         23  other reasonable issues that we could put on the

         24  table like set-aside and this and that, would that

         25  work for the community?
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          2                 MR. DIAMOND: Jim, the answer is no.

          3  You know why? Because decision time is now. The

          4  Council has a very limited amount of time to make a

          5  decision.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Forget about

          7  our timetable.

          8                 MR. DIAMOND: And therefore, that

          9  would be assuming certain things that we don't know

         10  is going to happen and the answer is how could we

         11  say --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: That's part

         13  of the hypothetical.

         14                 MR. DIAMOND: Let us --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: What I'm

         16  positing to you, and which I would like a direct

         17  response, free from tricks that may be played or

         18  this and that, you know, just hear the hypothetical

         19  and respond to it, that we got the contamination

         20  down to Adam and Eve standards, and we got the

         21  parking totally dealt with, all other reasonable

         22  accommodations made, what would the response be at

         23  that point? And you should say whatever you want.

         24  I'm not trying to like spoon feed you, but this is

         25  important for the Chairwoman to hear, and
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          2  unfortunately, I'm not going to be able to recognize

          3  your sigh from away, but you'll have an opportunity

          4  to come and testify, and I can pose the same

          5  question to you at the appropriate time, but they

          6  have the panel now.

          7                 Okay.

          8                 MR. DIAMOND: We will be opposed to

          9  the school at this site.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Okay.

         11                 MR. DIAMOND: I have to say that in

         12  light of where we are today.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: We may be

         14  somewhere else tomorrow --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I'm not

         16  telling you what to say.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you very

         18  much for taking the time to testify. We need to

         19  bring up the next panel because we have to move this

         20  meeting along.

         21                 There were two other people who

         22  signed up to testify, Robert Trabold and Dan O'Neil.

         23  And there is one other person who would like --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Si Schwartz,

         25  he's Vice Chair of the Community Board.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay, he had not

          3  filled out a slip, but I see him doing so right now

          4  in the back. So, Mr. Schwartz, why don't you join

          5  this panel. I would again ask you to restrict your

          6  comments to three minutes. Obviously if we have

          7  questions we will have a further dialogue. Please

          8  begin.

          9                 The light should be off. And just

         10  introduce yourself for the record, please.

         11                 MR. TRABOLD: I'm Bob Trabold, Robert

         12  Trabold, and I'm President of Hillcrest Citizens for

         13  Neighborhood Preservation, and I'd like to address

         14  the issues of neighborhood affect and the health

         15  impact on the students because of the contamination

         16  of the site of the proposed Gateway High School.

         17                 Just a little background for the

         18  neighborhood. In half a mile radius of the school we

         19  have 23 other schools. No precinct in New York City

         20  has more schools than 107th Precinct. South of Union

         21  Turnpike, where the school will be located, there

         22  are 32,000 students entering daily. On top of that

         23  we have the Queens Medical Campus. So, that gives a

         24  little scenario of the neighborhood. We're super

         25  congested.

                                                            87

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          2                 Many times during the day you can't

          3  on the buses. There is no parking. The only parking

          4  is the block on Greiber (phonetic) which they do. We

          5  have spoken with MTA and they said there is no more

          6  money for buses. I share the concerns of Chairperson

          7  Lappin that MTA is a State Agency. They're also an

          8  authority, they have their own agenda, and contrary

          9  to what the Administration says, I don't if the City

         10  agency has much leverage there.

         11                 So, this is a major problem. Parking

         12  is a disaster, and we've raised this issue. Now, the

         13  Deputy Mayor mentioned the possibility of free

         14  parking. There's plenty of free parking on the

         15  hospital campus, but the problem is the workers

         16  don't want to pay the $50.

         17                 If what the Deputy Mayor says is

         18  true, we would like to see that in writing. It would

         19  have to be in writing to see what kind of contract

         20  with HHC. My big problem is term limits, that the

         21  agreements that are made today, what's going to

         22  happen eight or ten years when there are a new set

         23  of elected officials. And also, we know that the

         24  hospital has wanted to expand because the population

         25  is expanding and they also have, the Berger
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          2  Commission, the right to build 40 more beds. Well,

          3  as time goes on, as the years go on and the

          4  population pressure grows and they want to expand,

          5  what would be the victim of that expansion? The

          6  school parking lot. So, we're talking a little bit

          7  in the long run. This is a great concern.

          8                 In relation to the environment and

          9  the threat to this health of the student, I share

         10  Bernie Diamond's concern about the students' health.

         11  We've had a meeting with SCA and the scientists at

         12  Pace University. We did have a clarification on the

         13  soil removal levels, we did not reach an agreement

         14  on the monitoring of the subslab vaporization

         15  system. The scientists suggested an air monitoring

         16  system. The issue underneath the table is that the

         17  Department of Education has no track record in this

         18  area. We're dealing with children's health, serious

         19  contamination. And just the other day in the New

         20  York Times was an article about the problems in New

         21  Jersey. They don't have a track record, so this is a

         22  major issue.

         23                 The other issue also, the soil

         24  removal.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: I'm sorry, but I
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          2  have to ask you to wrap up.

          3                 MR. TRABOLD: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

          5                 MR. TRABOLD: One of the issues with

          6  the soil removal also is who is going to monitor

          7  this? Because there is a big racket in New York

          8  City, contractors say we're going to put in ABC and

          9  they put in XYZ. Now, the professors at Pace said

         10  they would be willing to monitor this. The only

         11  thing they have to get in there unannounced, so that

         12  could be -- they could take the samples.

         13                 So, my question, and it came up

         14  previously, is why are they choosing this site?

         15  Senator Padavan gives us a site that doesn't have

         16  all these problems, and I've never been convinced

         17  about their argument. It's only ten minutes away,

         18  50, 60 students can be easily bussed. So, I ask the

         19  question, I don't think we should build on this site

         20  when we have another site that would not be

         21  hazardous to the health of our students.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         23                 MR. O'NEILL: Good afternoon, Madam

         24  Chairperson and also Councilman Jim Gennaro, and

         25  other Councilmen on this Committee. My name is Dan
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          2  O'Neill. I oppose the school for several reasons.

          3  Just recently, as you know, in the City of New York

          4  we had a school in the Bronx that was built over a

          5  contaminated area, and it's a damn shame. Those kids

          6  got sick and everything else. You read it in the

          7  paper. You must have seen it, or seen it on

          8  television, read about it. And also there's another

          9  example over in Jersey, Paramus New Jersey, where

         10  they built the school over a contaminated area, and

         11  there's no reason, no good reason at all for

         12  something like this to happen.

         13                 As you know, the Queens Central

         14  Morgue is the area where they're building this

         15  school. And, you know, that morgue has been there

         16  for many years. Now, all the bodies and everything

         17  else, an they had to go through chemicals and

         18  everything else, where do you think all these

         19  chemicals went? Right into the ground.

         20                 Now, there were cases of mercury.

         21  They did find some mercury in the ground, and other

         22  cases of other cancer-causing chemicals in the

         23  ground. And it's a shame that, you know, they're

         24  going to build a school like that over an area

         25  that's where they had chemicals and everything else
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          2  being used.

          3                 You don't want our children, you

          4  don't want our boys and girls going to class that's

          5  really going to be contaminated and everything else,

          6  and really harmful.

          7                 Now, the City also did a traffic

          8  study which was a joke. It was a big joke. I mean,

          9  the traffic study they had given us, and the parking

         10  problem is really bad. Even now. You go along

         11  Goethals Avenue and Parsons Boulevard to 164th

         12  Street, you can't find a parking spot, even in the

         13  community where I live and everything else, parking

         14  is so bad.

         15                 And as far as public transportation,

         16  I take public transportation. I take the buses all

         17  the time. There won't be enough buses to handle 800

         18  high school students there, to go to school to and

         19  from the school to their home. And the majority of

         20  students that would be going to that school do not

         21  live in the community. The majority of students live

         22  outside the community, they will need buses. MTA is

         23  not going to give them extra buses. There's no way.

         24  They're not going to give them any extra buses to

         25  get them to school and to get them home.
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          2                 As it is now, we've got so many

          3  schools in the area now, the bus is overcrowded now.

          4  On Union Turnpike, the 46 Line, City Bus is 46, and

          5  also on the Queens Triborough buses, they're so

          6  crowded now in the schools. So, there's no way

          7  you're going to have 800 kids going to get

          8  transportation, you know, going to the school and

          9  from the school home.

         10                 And State Senator Padavan offered

         11  another area over there in Queens, and he spoke to

         12  Deputy Mayor Walcott, and he also told him and he

         13  also spoke when we had meetings before, that it was

         14  a better area and that there would be for the kids,

         15  you know, high school students, you know, to go,

         16  instead of this location.

         17                 Now, I speak for the majority of the

         18  people in my area, majority. I've been living in the

         19  community for 72 years in Hillcrest, and I think

         20  they are all set against having a school being built

         21  there. I want the Committee here to oppose this

         22  school being built on this land.

         23                 Thank you. I appreciate it. Thank

         24  you.

         25                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Thank you very much for
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          2  allowing me to speak. My name is Seymour Schwartz. I

          3  am the Vice Chairman of Community Board 8, and also

          4  Co-Chair of its Queens Hospital Land Use Committee.

          5  I hesitated to speak because I wanted to avoid the

          6  redundancies that we heard so far this afternoon,

          7  and I thought the last question by Councilman

          8  Gennaro and certainly by Councilwoman Katz was at

          9  the heart of the issue. Why don't we want the school

         10  built at this time?

         11                 There is a history there. There are

         12  19 and a half acres on the campus of the Queens

         13  Hospital. When they planned the new hospital,

         14  despite the claims of the experts. We then created

         15  the Queens Hospital Land Use community at the

         16  Community Board level because we felt they were

         17  underplanning. And the fact is, within a year or

         18  two, they admitted to the fact that they had not

         19  created enough hospital beds, and were thinking of

         20  now adding.

         21                 Prior to that. We had warned them of

         22  the under-planning, and suggested that they hold

         23  back some of the land in order to cope with the

         24  needs of the future in, well, as even the Borough

         25  President said, the expanding needs for medical care
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          2  in society today.

          3                 Now, what did they do? What did the

          4  experts do? First thing they did was they sold off

          5  or leased off the major facility of the old

          6  tuberculosis hospital to a private enterprise, as a

          7  senior living facility. So, we lost that facility

          8  for public use. And then the Economic Development

          9  Corporation, in its wisdom, planned for a major

         10  mixed use facility, which we were frightened of

         11  because of its impact upon the community, and using

         12  up all of the available land that remained on that

         13  site to that point.

         14                 Well, fortunately, it did not come

         15  about because there were no takers. It was

         16  economically not feasible for commercial interests.

         17  And then Hospitals Corporation decided to put up a

         18  pavilion and now allow for an increase of 50

         19  additional hospital beds, which we warned them about

         20  before they even built the hospital. And that's the

         21  history of our board in relation to the use of that

         22  land. Now what we said, or then we said, why not

         23  leave some land for the future? Why not create some

         24  land for the community, a park-like setting? Don't

         25  use up every inch of that space that is becoming
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          2  more and more valuable in the City of New York, and

          3  look at the Mayor's new proposal for the Year 2030,

          4  park land in every community. Why use up that space

          5  when there is an alternate site?

          6                 And now the Emergency Medical

          7  Services wants to rebuild its facilities on the

          8  remaining land. There will be nothing left there if

          9  they go ahead with all of these plans.

         10                 So, please understand that, yes, you

         11  can address the parking issue, and yet, we will not

         12  be satisfied because there is no assurance of it

         13  being accomplishable. We hear what you say about

         14  increased transportation for facilities. We are

         15  skeptical. We are concerned with the environmental

         16  impact in every single way, but the bottom line is

         17  the school does not have to be built there. There is

         18  an alternative proposal, and we do not accept the

         19  planning of, I will say, so-called experts who have

         20  failed us time and time again.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Thank you.

         22                 Councilman Gennaro.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Sure. We have

         24  to move on so I can't delve into questions, but

         25  first I want to thank you all very much for being
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          2  here. Everyone's testimony had certainly something

          3  different and something significant to it.

          4                 Let me just put on the record the

          5  same question, I think I know what the response is

          6  going to be, but I don't want to box you in and make

          7  you give a particular answer, but I will put the

          8  same hypothetical to you gentlemen that we had for

          9  the previous panel, which is, absolute 100 percent

         10  certainty that they go down to Adam and Eve

         11  standards with regard to contamination, absolute

         12  certainty on parking in perpetuity, all other

         13  so-called reasonable issues resolved to everyone's

         14  satisfaction, you know, with the MTA, and I

         15  understand, how well can you get the MTA to really

         16  commit to anything, but, you know, with that

         17  hypothetical, the contamination done, parking done,

         18  all other reasonable issues done, with the exception

         19  of MTA, who never listens to anyone, what would be

         20  the response of the community? Or what would your

         21  disposition be toward siting the school in that

         22  hypothetical?

         23                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Well, there is no

         24  question. We have responded to that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: I just wanted

                                                            97

          1  LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING And MARITIME USES

          2  to put it on the record. I just want to put it on

          3  the record.

          4                 MR. SCHWARTZ: We remain opposed to

          5  the proposal. They have come up with more than one

          6  idea for using up that land. That thing is burning a

          7  hole in their pants. They want to use up that land.

          8  This is now the third option they've come up with.

          9  You've heard about the inordinate overcrowding in

         10  that community. That's a strong commercial area, as

         11  well as a residential area. You heard of the density

         12  of the student body throughout that area. You heard

         13  of the problems with transportation and the delivery

         14  of City services. We are skeptical that those

         15  problems can and will be resolved. And therefore, we

         16  think that land should remain free at this point for

         17  possible future use, which includes the expansion of

         18  the Queens Hospital, as may be required.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO: Thank you,

         20  Si.

         21                 Dan? Bob?

         22                 But brief, because the Chairperson

         23  has to move on.

         24                 MR. O'NEILL: I agree with Si 100

         25  percent on what he said. I agree with him.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Dan.

          3                 Bob.

          4                 MR. TRABOLD: I also agree with Si.

          5  His testimony gave a little bit of the history. He's

          6  on the Land Use Committee. I asked myself a

          7  question, an ultimate site was proposed that doesn't

          8  have all the problems of this site, why wasn't it

          9  taken? And the reason they say that ten-minute

         10  shuttle will be detrimental to education, I don't

         11  think so. Fifty, 60 students a day. You have a good

         12  site. It doesn't have all the drawbacks of health

         13  and congestion and everything, why isn't it being

         14  used? And that's why I want to thank also Si for

         15  giving a history of the whole question of Land Use

         16  and the hospital.

         17                 MR. O'NEILL: There's just one other

         18  thing I want to say. I think it's a bad site. We

         19  forget about security. The 107th Police Station, you

         20  know, they're under-staffed and they're not going to

         21  get any more police, who is going to secure that

         22  these kids, you know, everything will be all right,

         23  under control? You got 800 students. Eight-hundred

         24  students, who is going to control and make sure that

         25  there will be no trouble? Because there is going to
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          2  be a nursing home there besides the hospital. There

          3  will be a nursing home over there by Parsons and

          4  there's the hospital and everything else, who is

          5  going to control these 800 students? You know the

          6  way how things are today. Even though they're

          7  supposed to be smart, intelligent and they're

          8  supposed to be well behaved, but we don't know

          9  what's going to happen in the future. And security

         10  is important.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LAPPIN: Okay, thank you.

         12  Thank you for taking the time to testify, all of you

         13  who are here today. We appreciated that. You have

         14  the last word. With that I'm going to close the

         15  hearing on this item and recess this meeting until

         16  10:45 tomorrow where we will reconvene in the

         17  Committee Room.

         18                 MR. O'NEILL: Okay, thank you. Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 (Hearing recessed at 4:13 p.m.)
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